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IN THE UNTTED STATES DISTRICT COURT e

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK i
*******:Ei-'k**“*************ﬂ****:****t***
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA Criminal Action No,
5! 03-CR-G4Y (Mevm)
Y.
RAFI1, DHAYIR, Vio: 18 US.C. § 371 [1 Couny
MAHER ZAGHA, 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) [1 Connt]
AYMAN JARWAN, 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(A) & § 2
OSAMEH AL WAHAIDY, . [12 Counts]
HELP THE NEEDY, and
HELP THE NEEDY ENDOWMENT, INC., INDICTMENT
Defendants. | S Ty T
****a-*****w****:**i*****f-&**********i-** - mf'___.z.f’ 7‘:“
b ;
: i FEB 19 2003
THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:  ; | A
PAT___ CTROCK__
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INTRODUCTION

1. The intcmational Emergency Bconomic Powers Act, Title 50, United States

Code, Section 1701, ef seq. (collectively " EEPA™), provides authorty o the President of thie

United States to "deal with any unusual and extraordinary threat, which has its source in

whole or substantial part ontside the United States, 1o the national security, foreign policy,

or economy of the United Sates, if the President declares a national CmeTgency with respect
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2. - The President js authorized, under such regulations as he may prescribe to,
among other things, "investigate, regulate, or prohibit — (i) any &ansacﬁons i foreign
exchenge, (i) transfers of credit or Payments between, by, through, or to any banidng
Institution, to the cxtent that such transters or payments involve eny interest of any foreign
country or any national thereof, [and] (iii) the importing or exporting of currency or
securities.” 50 11.S.C. § 1702(2)(1)(A.).

| 3. fn Ezecutive Order 12722, signed August 2, 1990, the President of the United
States found that "the policies and actions of the Government of Traq constitute an unusual
and extraordnmry threat to the national security and foreign policy of the United States” and
declared "a national emergency to deal with that threat.” Exccutive Order 12722, entitled
"Blocking Iragi Government Property and Prohibiting Trensactions With Iraq" generally
prolubits trade with Irag.
a, Executive Order 12724, carrying the same title and dated August 9,
1990, prohibits certain zctivities relating to Iraq; including "any commiiment or transfer,
direct or indirect, of funds, or other financial Or'economic resources by any United States
person to the Government of Iﬁq of any other person in fraq,”
b. Each year from 1990 to the present, the sitting President of the Uhnited
-States has issued a "Notice of President of the United States” contimung this national

¢tmergency with respect to Iraq,



c. Executive Orders 12724 and 12722 authorize the Secretary of the

Treasury, .in consultation with the Secretary of State, t0 "take such actions, including the
vpromﬁlgaﬁon of rules and regulations, as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of this
order."”

4, Pursuantto th:s authority, the United States Department of the Treasury, Office
of Forcign Assets Control has promulgated regulations in Title 31 of the Code of Federal
Regulations, Part 575 entitled "Iraqi Sanctions Regulations." 31 CFR, § 575.201 et s;eq.

| a. No United States individual or organization may, except as authorized,
“commit or transfer, directly or indirectly, funds or other financial or ccmoﬁ]ic Tﬂ:‘;‘UIi!ICES to
the Government of Irag or any person in Iraq." 31 CFR, Subpart B, § 575.210:

b. According fo those regulations, individuals and organizations Jonast
obtain a specific Yicense from the Office of Foreign Assets Control to provic_ie donated
foodstuffs in humanitarian circumstances and donated supplies intended strictly for medical
purposes. 31 CFR §§ 575.205, 575.520, 575.521, 575.525. |

c. The Traqi Sanctions Regulations further provide that: “[a]ny transaction
for the purpose of, or which has the effect of, evading or avoiding, or which facilitates the
evasion or avoidance of, any of the prohibitions set forth in this subpart [B] is héreby
prohibited. Any attemnpt to violate the prohibitions set forth in this part [Iraqi Sanctions
Regulations] is hereby prohibited. Any conspiracy formed for the purpose of engaging in a

wransaction prohibited by this part is hereby prohibited.” 31 CFR § 575.211.



THE CONSPIRACY TO EVADE IRAQI SANCTIONS

5. Beginning at a time wnknown but prior to February 1995, and conﬁnning
through the date of this Indictment, in the Northem District of New York, and elsewhere, the

defendants,

RAFIL DHAFIR,
MAHER ZAGHA,
AYMAN JARWAN, and
OSAMEH AL WAHAIDY
knowingly and willfully combined, couspired and agreed with cach other, and with other
persons bot}n known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses against the Uhited_
States, that is knowingly and wﬂlﬁlliy to violate and evade au_1d atternpt (o violate and evade
Executive Order Numbers 12722 and 12724 and the regulations jssued under those Executive
Orders and under the Internationa) Emergency Economic Powers Act, includin g the “ragi
Sanctions Regulations,” 31 CFR § 575.201 et seq., by, among other things, transferring,
direetly and indirectly, fonds and other financial and economic resources to one or more
persons in the Cc»untry of Iraq, contrary to Title 30, United States Cade, Section 1701 €t seg.
and 3] CFR § 575.701. .
MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY
6. It was a part of the conspiracy that, from in or before 1995, RAFIL DHAFIR
imd the other defendants, operating under the names HELP TH: E NEEDY and HELP THE

NEEDY ENDOWMENT, INC. (hereinafier collectively referred to as “HTN™} in the



Northern District of New York and elsewhere, would solicit and collect funds from the
‘public.

2. HELP THE NEEDY was an inincorporated association established in
or before 1995, purportedly as a charity.

b. HELP THE NEEDY ENDOWMENT, INC. was a corporation,
incorporated in the State of New York in November 2001, and & successor to the
unincorporated association, HELP THE NEEDY.

¢ Neither HELP THE NEEDY, HELP THE NEEDY ENDOWMENT,
INC., nor any individual associated with those entitjes, obtained the licence required by law
te provide humanitarian aid to Iraq.

7. It was further a part of the conslsiracy that the defenéants, m soliciting funds
from the public, would make false and misleading representations concerning, among other
things, the intended nses of the donations.

8. It was further a part of the conspiracy that the defendants wonld establish a
series of bank accounts, using both fictitious corporate and personal identification
mformation, in part, to facilitate and conceal the unlawful transfer of funds to personsin Iraq.

9, Tt was further a part of the conspiracy that, from 1995 until the date of tlns
Indictment, the defendants wonld deposit contributions to HELP THE NEEDY into accounts
in the name of HELP THE NEEDY and afier July 2002, of HELP THE NEEDY
ENDOWMENT INC., at Oncida Savings Bank.



10. 1t was further a part of the ccmspiracyl that, from in or abont October 1997,
RAFIL DHAFIR would deposit contributions to HTN into an account in the name of HELP
THE NEEDY' at Key Bank.

1. It was further a part of the conspiracy that, from 1995 unti] September 1999,
the defendants would arrange to transfer funds from the HELP THE NEEDY account at
Oncida Savings Bank into a personal account at Flest Bank maintained in the.name of
MAHER ZAGHA,

12. It was further a part of the conspiracy ﬂmt from 1995 until September 1999,
the defendants would arrange to transfer more than $1,000,000 from the Fleet Bank account
maintained in the name of MAHER ZAGHA to an account at the Jordaa Istamic Bank in
Amman, Jordan héid by MAHER ZAGHA.

- 13, It was further a part of the conspiracy that, after September 1999, when the
account matntained in the name of MAHER ZAGHA was closed by Fleet Bamk, the
defendants arranged to send over $2,700,000 from the HTN accounts at Opejda Savings
Bank and Key Bank to the Jordan Islamic Bank account, by checks mado payable to ZAGHA
Tradmg Establishment. |

14. Tt was further a part of the conspiracy that, from 1995 to the date of this
Indictment, the defendants would arrange o transfer money from the ZAGHA account in

Jordan 10 individuals in Iraq,



15. Ttwas further a part of the consPiraejr that the defendants took various steps to
conceal the nature and scope of the conspiracy and the identity of the conspirators.
QVERT AQ_ IS
16.  Infurtherance ofthe conspiracy and fo effect the objects of the conspiracy, the
defendants committed the following overt acts, among others:

a On or about November 14, 1995, RAFIL DHAFIR caused an account
to be opened at Oneida Savngs Bank in the name of “HELP THE NEEDY"” by submitting .
paperwork which used another organization’s Emploﬁ Hdentification Number and false |

‘personal identification information with respeet to the signatories, “Mo Harairi™ (for whom
a false social security number was used) and *“Sam Wahidi” (for whom the social security
num-ber of OSAMEH AL WAHAIDY, with an incorrect date of birth, was uscd),

b. On or about October 9, 1997, OSAMEH AL WAHAIDY opened an
account In the name of HELP THE NEEDY at Key Bank.

c. On or about March 23,1998, RAFIL DHAFIR deposited a check drawn
on the HELP THE NEEDY account at Oneida Savings Bank into the Fleet Bank account ip
the namme of MAHER ZAGHA.

d. On or about the dates set forth in Counts 3 through 14, each of which
are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth in Tull, a5 a separate overt act, the funds
described in each count wers transmitted and trans ferred from the United States to Jordan for

deposit in MAHER ZAGHA *s account at the Jordan Islamic Bank in Amman, Jordan.



e. OnNovember 8, 2001, RAFIL DHAFIR telephoned the Oneida Savings
Bank to arrange to obtain a check in téxc amount of $200,000, payable to Zagha Trading
Establishment, using a check from the BELP THE NEEDY account signed in the name of
OSAMEH AL WAHAIDY, which was obtained later that day by another individual known
to the Grand ;Jury.

f. On November 8, 2001, OSAMEH AL WAHATIDY went to Key Bank
and obtained a chéck from the HELP THE NEEDY account in the amount of $100,000,
payable to Zagha Trading Establishment. k |

8. On November 9, 2001, AYMAN JARWAN mailed an express mail
envelopc to M. Zagha Tradmg Est, MADI Bldg., Room 201, Second Floor , King Faisal St.,
Amman, Jordan,

h. On or about December 24, 2001, RAFIL DHAFIR telephoned the
Oneida Savings Bank to arrange to oi)tain a check in the amount of $200,000 payable to
Zagha Trading Establishment, using a check from the HELP THE NEEDY account signed
in the name of OSAMEH AL WAHAIDY, which was obtained later that day by another
mdrvidual known to the Grand Jury.

i. On or about December 31, 2001, RAFIL, DHAFIR arranged to obtain
a bank check from Oneida Savings Bank in the amownt of $200 ,000, payable to Zagha

Trading Establishment, using a check from the HELP THE NEEDY account signed in the
name of OSAMEH AL WAHAIDY.



j- On or about Janmary 4, 2002, RAFIL DHAFIR sent an express mail
envelope to-Maher Ghalib Zagha, Zagha Trading Est., MADI Bldg., Room 201, Second
‘Floor, King Faisal S$t., Amman, Jordan.

k. On or about Scptembér 16, 2002, OSAMEH ALWAHAIDY and
AYMANJARWAN went to Key Bank and obtained a bank check in the amount of $100,000
payable to Zagha Trading Establishment, using a ¢heck from the HELP THE NEEDY
account. |

1. On multiple occasions including thos.;e set forth below, each such
occasion constituting a separate overt act, RAFIL DHAFIR directed that money sent from
HTN to the Zagha Trading Establishment in Jordan be provided to individuals who were
either located in Iraq or who would transport moaoey into fraq.

(1) OnApril 14,2001 RAFIL DHAFIR e-mailcd MAHER ZAGHA
directing him to give $100,000 “from the relief” to an individual
known to the Grand Jury who was located in Baghdad, Iraq,

(2)  OnJune25,2002, RAFIL DHAFIR e-mailed MAHER ZAGHA
directing him to give $20,000 “from the relief” to an individual
known to the Grand Jury who was located in Baghdad, Iraq.

(3)  On November 30, 2001, RAFIL DHAFIR e-mailed MAHER
ZAGHA directing him to pay “ten thousands” to an individual

known to the Grand Jury who was located in Baghdad, Iraq.
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(6)

Q)

On December 22, 2001, RAFIL DHAFIR e-mailed MAHER
ZAGHA directing him to pay $5,000 “from the relief” to an
individual Jocated in Baghdad, Iraq, and known to the Grand
Jury,

On December 19, 2000, RAFIL DHAFIR directe& MAHER |
ZAGHA to give $13,000 to an individual who was to transfer
monéy into Iraq.

On December 29, 2000, RAFIL DHAFIR directed MAHER
ZAGHA 10 givé 316,500 to an individual who later reported
how the money had been distribuzed in Irag.

On or about May 1, 2002, June 1, 2002, July 25, 2002, Augnst
1, 2002, and Sei;tr.mbcr 2, 2002, MAHER ZAGHA provided
$7,000 (on each occasion) to an individual who distributed at

least some of the money in Irag.

m. On or about August 8, 2002, a conspirator submitted to the Internai

Revenue Service an application for Tecognition as a tax-exempt charitable OTgamization

(Form 1023) dated July 31,

2002, on behalf of HELP THE NEEDY ENDOWMENT, INC.,

which mcluded a false and misleading representation that HTN was an organization that

recently concentrated on aiding the needy in the United States,

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371,

10



THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
COUNT 2
17.  The allegations set out in Count 1 and Counts 3 through 14 are incorporated
herein by reference, as if sct forth in full,
18.  Beginning at a time unknown but prior to February 1995 and continuing
through the date of this Indictment, within the Northem District of New York and elscwhere,

the defendants,

RAFIL DHAFIR,
MAHER ZAGHA,
HELP THE NEEDY, and
HELP THE NEEDY ENDOWMENT, INC,
and others known and unknown fo the Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally conspire
to commit an offense under Title 18, Uﬁitcd States Code, Section iQSG(a)(Z}(A), that is the
knowing transmission and transfer of funds from places in‘the United States, mchiding
Syracuse, New York, to places outside the United States, inchiding Amman, Jordan and Iraq,
with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity - that is, th.e
knowing and willful violation and attempted violation of regulations issued under the
International Emer. éenc'y Econemic Powers Act, including the “Iragi Sanctions Regulations, "
31 CFR § 575.201 erseq., by, among otherthjngs, transferring, directly and indirectly, fiunds
and other financial and economic resources to one or more persons in the Country of Irag,

contrary 10 Title 50, United States Code, Section 1705.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

11



THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
COUNTS3-10
19. The aﬂegations sctoutin Counts 1 and 2 are incorporated herein by reference,
as if set forth in full,
20. Onor abaut.thc dates specified below, within the Northemn District of New

York and elsewhere, the defendants,

RAFTL DHAFIR,
MAHER ZAGHA, and
HELP THE NEEDY
| transmitted ang transferred and cavsed to be transmitted and transferred funds from a place
in the United States to a place omside the United States with the inlent to promote the
carrying on of specified unlawful activity — that is, the knowing and willful violation and
attempted violation of regulations issued under the International Emetgency Economic
Powc-rs Act, including the "Iragi Sanctions Regulations," 31 C‘FR § 575.201 ef seq., by,.
among other things, transferring, directly and indirectly, funds and other financial and
economic resources to one or more persons in the Country of Irag, contrary to Title 50,
Unitéd States Code, Section 1705 -- by the following transfers of funds from accounts of

HELP THE NEBDY at the banks in the United States listed below to an account of MAHER

ZAGHA at the Jordan Islamic Bank, each such transfor constituting a separate count:

12



COUNT | Approximate Date of Deposit Source Bank for Amount
into ZAGHA Account in Jordan HTN Funds
3 10/25/99 Key Bank £20,000
4 11/7/99 Oneida Savings Bank $50,000
5 11/25/99 Oneida Savings Bank $100,000
6 1/19/00 Oncida Savings Bank $100,000
7 2/23/00 Oneida Savings Bank |  $200,000
| Key Bank $30,000
8 75/00 Oneida Savings Bank $200,000
9 ‘ 8/17/00 Oneida Savings Bank $200,000
10 11/12/01 Oneida Savings Bank $£200,000
Key Bank $100,000

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956{a)(2)(A) anid Section

2.
THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
C_OUNTS 11-14
21.  Theallegations set out in Counts 1 and 2 are incorporated herein by rcfércncc,
as if set forth in full.

22, On or abont the dates specified below, within the Northern District of New

York and elsewhere, the defendants
RAFIL DHAFIR,

MAHER ZAGHA, and
HELFP THE NEEDY ENDOWMENT, INC.

13



‘transferred and transmitted and caused to be transmitted and transferred funds from a place
in the United States to a place outside the United States with the intent 1o promote the
cartying on of specified imlawful activity - that is, the knowing and willful violation and
attempted violation of regulations issued under the International Emexgency Economic
Powers Act, including the "Iraqi Sanctions Regulations,” 31 CFR § 575.201 et seg., by,
among other things, tran.éfcn-ing directly and indirectly, funds and other financial and
eCONOMIC Tesources 10 oné or more persons in the Country of Traq, contrary to Title 50,
United States Code, Scction 1705 -- by the following transfers of funds from accounts of
HELP THE NEEDY at the banks in the United States listed below to an account of MAHER

ZAGHA at the Jordan Islamic Bank, each such transfer constituting a separate count:

COUNT Approximate Date of Deposit into | Source Bank for HIN | Amount
ZAGHA Account in Jordan Funds
11 1/15/02 Omeida Savings Bank ! $400,000
. (2 checks)
12 3/28/02 Oncida Savings Bank { $400,000
(2 checks)
13 9/16/02 _ Key Bank $100,000
14 1503 Oneida Savings Bank | $200,000

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(=a)(2)(A) and Section 2.

i4



FORFEITURE ALLEGATION

Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), each defendant who is
convicted of one or more of the offenses set forth in Counis 2 through 14 shall forfeit o the
United States the following property:

Allright, title and interest in any and all property involved in each offense in viol.;:tion
of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956, or conspiracy to commit such offense, for
which the defendant is convicted, and all property traceable to such property, including the
following: '

I MONEY JUDGMENT

A S!:tm of money not less that $4,000,000 in United States funds, representing
the total amount of finds involved in each moncy laundering offense, or conspiracy to
launder monetary instruments. If more than one defendant ig convicted of an offense, the
defendants so convicte;d are jountly and severally liable for the amowunt involved in such
offense.

2. BANEK ACCOUNTS

a. All funds on deposit in the Jordan Islamic Bank, account #4 21713 and
21732, under the name MAHER ZAGHA;

b. all funds on deposit in Oneida Savings Bank, account # 5100425075,

under the name HELP THE NEEDY ENDOWMENT, INC;

15



c. all funds on deposit in the Key Bank, account # 320310014206, under
the name HELP THE NEEDY.

Pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 18,
United States Code, Section 98'2(b), each defendant shall forfeit substitute propesty, up to the
value of the amount described in paragraph 1 above, if, by any act or omission of the
defendant, the property described in paragraph 1, or any portion thereof, cannot be located
upon the exercise of due diligence; has been transferred, sold to or deposited with a third
party; has been placed beyond the jurisﬁiction ofthe court; has been substantially diminished
in value; or has be:en commingled with other property that cannot be divided without
difficulty.

All in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1) and Rule

32.2(a), Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.
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Dated: February {9, 2003 il me YT
FDREPBRSO}N OF THE GRAND JURY

GLENNT. SUDDABY
United States Attormey

‘By: M
MicRaei C. Olmsted

Stephen C. Green
Brenda K. Sannes
Assistant U.S. Attorney
Bar Roll No. 505858
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